

# ClosingsLIVE User Guide

July 2024



# History

Date	Version	Details
07/2016	1.0	Initial User Guide
01/2019	2.0	New functionality to capture documents published to Live in Order Notes
08/2019	3.0	Hyperlinked Documents
09/2019	4.0	- Updated screenshot of Order Details for viewing an Order
		- Messages written to Order Notes will have SPLive category checked if the category
		exists in SPAdmin
02/2021	5.0	Milestone Tasks and Okta Authentication
01/2022		Enhancement to send messages to the order Officer
		New product registration/notification column
		New Read Receipt to quickly identify if your message was read
03/2022		Permissions added at the Contact Person level
10/2022		Public Documents functionality
11/2022		Documents inheriting Message permissions when attached.
12/2022		New functionality to select and download multiple documents at one time
01/2023		This release provides the ability to,
		grant/deny product templates permissions
		view Attachments folder structure in SPLive
		grant permissions for documents by folder
		display/hide Order Officers on the web
03/2023		Functionality to generate self-service invitation
05/2023		Application Name Change
		New Mobile App
07/2023		New functionality
		• Send notifications to customers to complete a task (upload / complete a form).
		<ul> <li>Allow the customer to fill in the form online and submit electronically.</li> </ul>
09/2023		New (Submitter and Company) name fields added to the Web Order Entry form.
		Field data written to Order Notes when imported.
02/2024	7.0	This release includes
		New order processor
		Replaced the ability to filter/search individual columns shown on the Live Web
		with ability to enter search criteria in the Find Orders field and the application
		filtering corresponding fields on screen.
07/2024		New functionality added for SMS Text Alerts.



# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contents	3
Welcome to ClosingsLIVE	1
Introduction	1
Key Features	1
About This Guide	1
The Basics	2
Who Uses What?	2
Overview of Your Dashboard	3
Post Summary	4
Permission Summary	4
Getting Started	7
Open the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool	7
Apply a Template	8
Share a Document	9
Post a New Document and Share with Your Contacts	9
Published Documents Written to Order Notes	13
Set Up Who Can See Who	14
Share a Task	15
Need to associate a document to a task?	15
Need to associate an action to a task?	16
Other Tips	17
Send Messages	18
Add a Message	18
Read Receipt	19
Other Tips	20
Ready to Post?	21
Other Tips	21
Additional Information You Should Know	22
More about Templates	22
Create a New Template	22
Create a Template Rule	23
Remove a Template Rule	24
Example: Adding a Document Rule	24
Example: Adding a Contacts Rule	25



Example: Adding a Task Rule	26
More about Milestones	26
Troubleshooting	27
Your Customers View to Order Information	29
First Time Users	29
Existing Users	
Viewing Orders on ClosingsLIVE	
ClosingsLIVE Portal	
Working in ClosingsLIVE	
ClosingsLIVE Mobile App	41
Updating User Account Settings Online	53
Creating Document Hyperlinks and Attachments	55
Creating Hyperlinks or Attachments in the Commitment	56
Messages	59
Sending/Receiving an Order Officer Message	59
Receiving Task Submission Messages	60
Setting Up Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA)	
Setting Up the Okta Verify Option	67
Setting Up the SMS Authentication Option	71
Setting Up the Voice Call Authentication Option	73
Changing Verification Options	74



## Introduction

CLOSINGS

ClosingsLIVE is a secure portal used by all parties associated with a real estate transaction. From the Selling Agent to the Listing Agent, users can log into ClosingsLIVE on the web or using the mobile application to view the status of a file, order messages, and contact information of each person that plays a role in the sale of a home.

ProForm users control access to ClosingsLIVE by using the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool. Here you can upload contact information, documents, and the status of each order's tasks to ClosingsLIVE quickly and easily. All this is done directly from the order within ProForm eliminating the need to rekey any data. Create a personalized experience by setting up automatic email notifications for each contact and change the permissions for who can see who. Using the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool allows you to give an insight into the order without the need to email a contact anytime something changes.

## **Key Features**

- Provide all appropriate parties involved in the Real Estate transaction (buyer, seller, real estate agent, settlement agent, lender, etc.) with access to a secure portal via the web or mobile application. They can then check the real-time file status of a transaction(s) at any given time.
- Permissions on each setting allows you to customize access for each user.
- Quickly and securely upload documents for everyone to download and view via the web portal or mobile app (the ability to download a document is only available via the web portal at this time).
- Keep your customers updated with e-mail notifications regarding the order status.
- Allow your customers to communicate securely with you via the email address configured during setup as well as the Escrow Officer, Title Officer or Escrow Assistant entered in the order and have messages and documents flow back to your ProForm Order. Refer to <u>Messages – Sending/Receiving a Message to the Order Officer</u> for details.

## **About This Guide**

We hope this guide helps you utilize ClosingsLIVE to the fullest. Here you discover how to use the ClosingsLIVE Administrative tool and setup templates to apply permission settings quickly. In addition, we demonstrate the ClosingsLIVE portal and the ClosingsLIVE Mobile app, tools that give insight to the order to your customers.



# **The Basics**

## Who Uses What?

Your customers access ClosingsLIVE by opening an internet browser and entering the URL provided during implementation. The user can log in and view information regarding any order they have been granted permission to view. Your customers can also access order information via the ClosingsLIVE Mobile application. Refer to the <u>ClosingsLIVE Mobile Application</u> section for more information.

Orders R	equests	Place Order									
eration Al		• Filer	Find Orders		Search	Clear					
		Order No. T	Property Address	Trans. Type 🝸	Status T	Duyer/Dorrower	Ŧ	Seler T	Project	T Set Or	e T
œ	œ	18LiveOrder	6516 McNutt Way	Purchase	inProcess	Dover17N M L. S		-	-	01/11/20	19
Ø	OD	1JUN2010HJ	-	Purchase	Note	buyer buyer1		-	-	-	
œ	œ	2016050002	-	Purchase	InProcess	Load Tets GA		seller Lodd	-	-	
œ	œ	2016050004		Purchase	InProcess	bueyer test		-	-	-	
œ	œ	2016050005	-	Purchase	InProcess	Madhu sr		Load seller Test	-	-	
œ	œ	2016050006	Addi	Purchase	Pen	Buyert Shka Buyer2		Seller1 Shiva Seller2	-	05/15/20	196
œ	œ	2016050007		Purchase	InProcess	Nemitha Gopale		Madhu c	Detrectional	-	
O	CD	2016050008-01	-	Refmance	inProcess	buyer buyer1		-	-	-	

As a ProForm user, you manage your customer's access to ClosingsLIVE by using the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool. The tool allows you to quickly see who has registered, customize who can see who, upload a document, add a message, or view the activities associated with an order.

order Documents Conta	icts Activities M	essages		
emplates	P	ost Summary		
lone		Туре		Post
Purchase	(P)	Documents		-
Refinance	(R)	Contacts		1
	6	🛚 Checklist Tasks		-
	4	🚪 Requested Tasks		-
		Messages		1
		🖇 Permission Summary		
		Name	🕞 🍰 🗐 🗐 🥫 🕹 🍹	i i
		B Billy Buyer	- 1 🗢 🗸	$\square$
		s Salvatore Seller	- 1 🛛 🛇	$\square$
		Lender USA Bank	- 1 🔺 🔺	$\bowtie$
		.B Realtor, Inc	1 🙋 🕄	
		Attorneys, Inc	1 😆 🖉	
		County Title Company, Inc.	<b>e e</b>	1
pplied: Purchase				
	Apply			



The following section describes the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool. For more information on the ClosingsLIVE Portal or Mobile Application used by your customers, go to the section entitled <u>Your Customers' View to Order</u> <u>Information</u>.

## **Overview of Your Dashboard**

When you first open the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool, the dashboard provides a visual overview of the number of documents, tasks, and messages associated with a single order, view contact permissions, and use a template to apply specific rules and settings for an order allowing you to spend less time setting up an order and more time servicing your clients.





#### **Post Summary**

The **Post Summary** shows you the number of documents, contacts, tasks, and messages available on the ClosingsLIVE Portal after posting. It includes items that may have already posted to the site and those that will be available after clicking the **Post** button.

[Accounted ] Contacts ] A		
Templates	Post Summary	
-	Type	Pi
General Parchant Template () Inneral Rafvance Template () Internet Equity Template () Internet Template () The Template ()	Contacts Co	
	Ano Ano Deb Sure Staft Soft Seator Schlarb Attrinect Schlarb County To Colongants, Sec.	
		Two Conve

#### **Permission Summary**

Check the **Permission Summary** to confirm each contact's permissions have been applied and set properly. This overview combines all the permissions set on each tab in a single place, so you can quickly scan each contact.

Termelater	NOTICE AND ADDRESS OF ADDRES	
remplates	Post Summary	1.12.2 
Conversit Prantiliano Templatio (7) Deserva Harfinanza Template (8) Deserva Hauto Template (8) Radity's Template (8)	Concerts Concer	
NAU'S Template	Image: Summary       Image: Summary         Image: Solution Summary       Image: Solution Summary	
	Name	3 # 41 41 = <b>1</b> *
	Bob Buyer	- 1
	S Sally Seller	- 1 0 0 🖂
	Lander USA Bank	- I 🗛 🔛
	IR Realton, Inc.	1 00 🖂
	0.47 Attorneys, Inc	1 0 0 🖂
	County fille Company, Dr.	
Authol Januar Funcheer Templere		



9

This column shows the number of documents each contact can view.

This column shows the number of contacts each contact can view.

This column shows the number of checklist tasks each contact can view.

This column shows the number of requested tasks each contact can view.



	2	
Г		-

This column shows the number of messages each contact can view.

2

This column shows the registration status of all people associated with the contact and whether they have been given View permission to at least one item.

- Contact has been granted View permission to at least one item and all people associated with this contact have registered.
- Contact has been granted View permission to at least one item but no people associated with this contact have registered. Click the Information icon to view details.
- Contact has been granted View permission to at least one item but at least one person associated with this contact has not registered. Click the Information icon to view details.
- View permission has not been granted for this contact.



This column shows the status of receiving notifications for the people associated with this contact and whether they have been given Notify permission to at least one item.

- All people associated with this contact will receive notifications when the notify checkbox is checked.
- All people associated with this contact have opted out of receiving notifications in their Preferences settings.
- Some people associated with this contact have opted out of receiving notifications in their Preferences settings.
- Notify permission has not been granted for this contact.



•

The Envelope icon indicates the contact has been granted at least one permission to receive email updates.

The Information icon allows you to view the specific details of documents, contacts, tasks, and messages a contact can view.

#### More about the Information Icon

From each tab in ClosingsLIVE, the **Information** icon appears to the right of a contact inside the permission summary grid. By clicking the icon, you may change the view and email settings from the User Details screen of all documents, contacts, activities, and messages for a single contact or contact person currently given to the user.

🤌 Permission Summary									
Name		\$	9	9		-	٢		
B Home Buyer Org.	1	1	-	-	-	0	0	$\square$	•
SellerBank USA	-	1	-	-	1	0	0	$\bowtie$	i
LB Green Homes Realty Inc.	-	1	-	-	-	۲	0		<b>()</b>
SB Sotheby's International Realty	-	1	-	-	-	۲	0		i
A SoftPro Man Title LLC	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	$\boxtimes$	i
									$\bigcirc$



The selected contact shows the Registration and Notification status at the top (refer to above for the full list of the icons and the corresponding definition) and the various permissions shown below.

In the examples below, Cindy Sanders has been granted View and Notify permission to at least one item and has registered and opted to receive notifications. If Cindy Sanders logs in with the mobile app, push notifications would also be received when Notify permission is granted. The Registration and Notification columns show the green <a> icon.</a>

The Lender USA Bank contact shows two contacts where Lisa Lender has been granted View and Notify permission to at least one item and has registered (green <sup>o</sup> icon) but has turned off the notification preference setting (red icon). Larry Lender was granted View and Notify permission, has not registered (red <sup>o</sup> icon) but has opted to receive notifications (green <sup>o</sup> icon).

**NOTE**: Permissions can be set at the Contact (i.e., Lender) or Contact Person level (i.e., Lender employees) on the **Documents**, **Contacts**, **Activities** and **Messages** tabs. Refer to <u>Share a Document</u> section to learn how.

	C Softhis Live - 2013-0526-073	
	Order Decements Contents Articles Name	
	User Details	
	Contraction Contraction	
	Cindy Sanders	
	Level Mark	
	Terrent Tauty Cndy Sanders 0 0	cindy.sanders@yahoo.bzz
	Pathis Tender	2
Registration and	The Impair	Divine Divinite
notification status	Bill S Barnes and Betsy Barnes	A Law A Law A
shown here.	Cindy Sanders	Z Z 2
	Decement	
	Corder Summary With Notes	
	Name Affidavit (Buyer) (2)	V V 00 0 0
	Name Affidavit (Buyer)	
	Name Affidavit (Seller)	V V
	HUD-1, Pages 1-3 and Attachment	V V 00 00
	Commitment (Schedule 8 - Section 1)	
User Details	X	View 🗸 Notify 🕢
L London UCA Pople		
		View PNotify
		Z
Lisa Lender	Salender (@email.com	N D
Larry Lender	S S larrylender@email.com	View PNotify
🤣 Permissions		N N
⊿ Contact	🗹 View 🔽 Notify	
Billy Buyer and Betty Buyer		Close
⊿ Document	🗹 View 🔽 Notify	and the second se
🔎 Legal Description		Permissions for the
⊿ ChecklistTask	View 🔽 Notify	
💐 Earnest Money Deposited	🗸 🔊 🛛	selected contact shown
▲ RequestedTask	View Notify	here. When multiple
Title Ordered		people are associated with
Marran		a Contact, you can select
Message 1		each person to see their
Massage 2		· ·
Nessaye 2	V L	permission summary.



# **Getting Started**

## **Open the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool**

You can access the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool in one of two ways:

#### Select users

- Option 1. From the **360** ribbon click the **Publish** button. If the order is already open, the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool opens the order directly. If no orders are open a dialog box launches where you enter the order number of the order you would like to post to the ClosingsLIVE portal.
  - **NOTE**: New users must register an account with SoftPro 360. Follow the steps from the login prompt to setup a new account. Existing users may be required to re-login if their previous session expired.
- Option 2. From the **360** ribbon click **Services**. The **Services** menu opens on the left. Double-click the **Closings Live** entry. A dialog box opens, allowing you to select an order already opened in the background or enter the number of another order you wish to post to the ClosingsLIVE portal.



#### Enterprise and Standard Users

- Option 1. Click the **360** licon to launch the **SoftPro 360 Console**.
- Option 2. Click the Services menu and then click the SoftPro 360 Console.





## **Apply a Template**

Setting up templates in advance saves time when publishing an order to ClosingsLIVE. Depending on the type of order, you can automatically have a template applied so you don't have to remember which template to add.

When the user permission is granted, the Template toolbar in the lower left of the Order dashboard is enabled and template changes are permitted. Discover how to set up rules and edit templates here: More about Templates.

WARNING: Editing a template or deleting a template affects all orders currently associated with the template. This could result in removing all permission settings to every order for every user using ClosingsLIVE in your company. Be very careful when changing a template. You cannot recover a template once deleted and must reapply the template individually to every order used to make changes to a template without starting from scratch.



	Creates a new template	New templates contain no preset data.
	Edit template settings	Change the name, create/edit a rule, or change the order type of a selected template.
Þ	Copy the selected template	Copy the selected template.
	Delete the selected template	Delete the selected template. Orders associated to the deleted template default to <b>NONE</b> .
Apply	Apply	After selecting a template, click to set the template and settings to the order.



## Share a Document

The **Documents** tab provides a central place to manage all the documents that are posted to the ClosingsLIVE Portal. Here you find all ProForm order documents that have been uploaded and are available to share with your contacts, or if you choose to only share with specific contacts, you may make those changes as well. You can also upload new documents securely from the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool. Once you post to the order, any new documents are added back to your ProForm order.

#### Post a New Document and Share with Your Contacts

- 1. From the Documents tab, click the Browse link (bottom left) and navigate to your document.
- 2. Select the document to add; documents are shown in the list of documents on the left or check the **Folder View** check box to view the same folder view as in your SoftPro order
- 3. Any rules set in a template are automatically applied to the new document.

With the document highlighted,

4. Set a document as a **Public Document**. When the user permission is granted, the document can be set to be a **Public Document**.

This allows a hyperlinked document to be shared with a customer, who then may forward it to a person in their office who is not a contact on the ClosingsLIVE order giving them the ability to view the linked documents without having to authenticate in ClosingsLIVE.

Documents	Folder Vier	w			Check	ing the <b>Pu</b>	blic Docume
ProForm File Name	Live File Name		E Commitment (Schedule B)	/	check	box allow	s hyperlinke
Commitment (Sche Affidavit (Credit Lin Owner Affidavit (2)	Commitment (Sche Affidavit (Credit Lin Owner Affidavit (2)	*	Source: Attachments\Commitment (Schedule B).pdf 0.1MB rename		docun witho	nents to be ut authent	e viewed tication.
HOA Affidavit	Owner Affidavit HOA Affidavit	(	Public Document Please note that a document marked as public will be available to any	vone with the link. Use this o	option with a	aution.	
			🔗 Permissions				
			Buyer/Borrower	Viev	Not	ify	
			Bob Buyer	13	103	•	
			D Lender USA Bank	83	E73	۲	
			USA Insurance	1	123	۲	
			a Seller	Viev	/ 🔲 Ema	d in the second s	
			Sally Seller	13	2	۲	
			/ Other	Viev	e Ema	4	
			Title Company	1	10	•	
			County Title Company, Inc.	13	23	۲	
			D Clara Jones	<b>1</b>	1	•	
			County Title Company, Inc.     Clara Jones	5		•	
Add new document: Bro	150						



When marked as public, the **Public Document** <sup>(P)</sup> icon is displayed in the permissions column of the document.

Pofum file			
Pofum file			
	Live Re Name	ALTA Owner's Policy (6-17-06)	
ALTA Owner's Put	ALTA Owner's Pol	Fource: Attachments/ALTA Owner's Policy (6-17-06).pdf	
ALTA Loan Pokcy L	ALTA Loan Policy L.	1.1MB	
ALTA Connerse (	ALTA Commement L.	CELEDI	
		Public Document	
		Please note that a document marked as public will be available to anyone with the link. Use this opti-	cion with ca
		Please note that a document marked as public will be available to aroune with the time, use this put Permissions	con with ca
		Press note that a document marked as public will be evaluable to anyone with the line. Use this app Permissions	Con with ca
		Press note that a document marked as public will be evaluable to anyone with the line. Use this app Permissions	
		Press note that a dependent marked as public will be evaluable to anyone with the time, Use this age  Permissions  Bayer Solo  Date of America  Date of Americ	
		Presse note that a doupnent marked as public will be evaluable to anyone with the time, Use this age  Permissions   Solution	
		Prese note that a dorpheart marked as public will be evaluable to anyone with the time, the time age	

Once the order is published, the **Public Documents** P icon changes to green P to indicate the document was published as a Public document. If the public document is not permissioned, it is still shared with Live Web so it can be utilized in the Hyperlink Tool.

#### NOTE:

- > There are no changes to permission functionality. Instead of the check icon, the public documents icon is displayed in the permission column.
- > Marking a document as a Public Document can only be done manually by a 360 user.
- $\rangle$  This change does not affect product templates or select automation.
- 5. View the **Permissions** grid to change the settings applied from the template.

Permissions can be set by selecting a specific document or check the **Folder View** check box to permission an entire folder of documents.

	ClosingsLIVE SEE2022120005		×
From <b>Folder View</b> select,	Order Documents Contacts Tasks Me	essages	
Attachments folder to set the same permission for all folders and the documents contained within each		Attachments Source: Attachments 0MB	Set permissions once the document or folder(s) selection is made.
<ul> <li>A specific Folder to set permissions for all documents only within the selected folder.</li> </ul>	Homeowner's Policy     L'ALTA Homeowner's Policy (1-1-08)     Other Documents     Homeowner's Policy     Locencity Annenwords     Locencity Annenwords     Locencity Annenwords	Permissions     Bayer/Boerower     Bayer Bob     E Bank of America     E Providence Title and Escrow	View Notify • • • • • • • • • • • •
permissions for only the selected document.		Sciller D S Seller Sam Other D Tryon Title	View Notify



- Permissions can be set at the Contact level (i.e., Lender, Buyer, etc.) or the Contact Person level (i.e., people associated with the Lender).
- Setting at the Contact level (i.e., the Lender), sets the permission for all People associated with the Contact. Click the Expand icon next to the Contact name to access the View and Notify check boxes for the Contact Person and set the permissions individually.
- a) To overwrite a permission setting applied from the template,
  - > Contact Level check the,
    - » View check box to change the view of the document for all people associated with the Contact.
    - » Notify check box to receive email notifications, push notifications via the mobile app, or SMS text notifications when the document is edited for all people associated with the Contact.

ClosingsLIVE- 2019010	020					>
Order Documents	Contacts Activitie	es l	Messages			
ProForm File Name Commitment (Sche Afridavit (Credit Lin Owner Afridavit (2) Owner Afridavit HOA Afridavit	Live File Name Commitment (Sche Affidavit (Credit Lin Owner Affidavit (2) Owner Affidavit HOA Affidavit	* *	Commitment (Schedule B) Source: Attachments\Commitment (Schedule B).pdf 0.1MB rename		remo	276
			Permissions Buyer/Borrower Bob Buyer CL Lender USA Bank ULUSA Insurance	View	Notify	() () ()
🤣 Permi	ssions					
■ Buyer/B ■ Billy billybuy	orrower / Buyer yer@email.com			✓ View ✓ ✓	<ul><li>✓ Notify</li><li>✓ </li><li>✓ </li><li>✓ </li><li>✓ </li><li>✓ </li><li>✓ </li></ul>	() )
▷ L Le	nder USA Bank					i

#### Or-

- > Contact person level click the **Expand** icon next to the Contact name and check the,
  - » View check box to change the view of the document for each person.
  - » Email check box to receive email notifications when the document is edited for each person.



**NOTE**: The **View** or **Notify** check box is shown with a black square when permission is not granted for all people associated with the Contact.

	$\sim$	
💰 Permissions		
⊿ Buyer/Borrower	🗙 View	🔲 Notify
B Billy Buyer		🔽 🌏 🖲
billybuyer@email.com		<b>V</b>
Lender USA Bank	<b>V</b>	🔳 🍕 🕕
larrylender@email.com		▼
lisalender@email.com		

b) Repeat for each document as needed.

#### **Changing a Document**

- **Rename** Select a document from the list on the left and click the **Rename** hyperlink in the summary window. A dialog box opens allowing you to change the name of a document.
- Remove Select a document from the list on the left and click the remove hyperlink in the summary window. The document is removed from the website and cannot be accessed by any contact until it has been reposted.
   NOTE: Renaming or removing a document only applies to the ClosingsLIVE website. It does not rename or remove the document in your ProForm order.
- **Repost** Once a document has been removed you have the option to repost it.
  - **NOTE**: After reposting a document, only the template settings are applied. If you made any changes to the permission settings outside of the template, you must reapply those settings to the reposted document.



## **Published Documents Written to Order Notes**

CLOSINGSLIV

Documents shared with contacts are captured in the Notes section of the Order with the following information:

	Or 🕖	der	Notes				
All (6	🗕 名 🏮	View	SPLive (3)				
	Туре	8	Linked From	Created	Last Modified	Note	Category
Þ		8		01/21/2019 04:07 PM	Michelle Leonard	Document(s) sent to ClosingsLIVE Owner Affidavit.pdf : michelle.leonard@sottprocorp.com HOA Affidavit.pdf : michelle.leonard@softprocorp.com	Integration

- **Created** Date and time document was published from ProForm to SPLive.
- Last Modified Name of user that published the document.
- Note Name of each document and email address for each recipient of the document.
- **Category** Integration category is automatically checked for all 360 related notes.

**NOTE**: If a ClosingsLIVE category exists in SPAdmin, then the ClosingsLIVE category is also checked.

\*Standard/Enterprise versions do not incorporate categories for Notes.



## Set Up Who Can See Who

With the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool you can easily define which contacts can view other contacts by clicking the **Contacts** tab. A list of all the contacts associated with an order are listed on the left. Follow these steps to change who can view a contact.

- Select a contact from the list on the left. The panel on the right changes based on the contact selected.
- 2. View
  - Check the check box for each contact that may have permission to view the information of the selected contact.
  - > Uncheck the check box for each contact that should not view the selected contact.

For example, it may be



unnecessary for the insurance agent to view the contact information of the listing agent. Select the listing agent from the list on the left, go to the permission settings, and uncheck the view option to the right of the insurance agent's name.

3. **Notify** - Check the check box for each contact that should receive a notification (email or push notification via the mobile app) when specific contact's information has changed. For example, if you want the sellers to receive an email when the listing agent's contact information changes, select the listing agent from the list on the left and check the notify check box to the right of the seller's name in the permission grid.

#### **Other Tips:**

• **Removing a contact.** When a contact is selected, click the **remove** link in the top right to remove their contact information and name from the ClosingsLIVE Portal. This removes all access for each user from viewing the contact in an order.

**NOTE**: The contact is not removed from the ProForm order.

• **Buyer/Seller contact information.** The buyer and seller's contact information are always protected and hidden from all contacts on the ClosingsLIVE portal. Only the buyer's and seller's names appear when viewing an order.



## Share a Task

Use the **Activities** tab to share the activities associated with an order to the order's contacts on the ClosingsLIVE Portal.

- Checklist Tasks are activities that must be completed for the order to be complete.
- Requested Tasks are activities outside of your office that must be completed by third parties associated to the order.

Grant permission settings here for assigning a task to be completed, who can view a task or receive a notification when a task has changed.

NOTE: When granting Assign permissions, the View and Notify permissions are automatically granted to assure the contact has permission to receive the notification and view the task.



**NOTE:** You can set permissions at the Contact level or for each person associated with the Contact.

#### Need to associate a document to a task?

Documents can be attached to a task and made available for your contacts to view. Follow the steps below to attach a document:

- 1. From the Activities tab, select a task from the list on the left.
- 2. Attach a document, use the,
  - » Order Attachment link to attach a document already posted to the order.
  - » Browse link to navigate to the file on your computer.

Documents display in the Linked Documents grid once linked to a task.



#### Need to associate an action to a task?

Tasks can be assigned to a contact to complete an action, (i.e., upload a form or complete and submit an online form). When the permission is granted, and the order published, a notification is sent to the recipient requesting the form be uploaded or completed.

To assign task permissions:

- 1. Select a task from the list on the left; can be a Checklist Task and/or a Requested Task.
- 2. Check the **Assign** check box for each party you wish to complete the task; multiple parties can be assigned to the same task.

As noted above, when the **Assign** permission check box is checked, the **View** and **Notify** permission check boxes are automatically checked and disabled. The only way to make a change is to uncheck the **Assign** check box.

Once a task is assigned, a check mark is shown next to the Task identifying it as being assigned.





#### **Other Tips**

- Use the Linked Documents toolbar icons to,
  - » 🔄 Unlink a document
  - » Rename a document
  - View or change permission settings of a document linked to a task
- **Removing a task.** When a task is selected, you can click the **remove** link in the top right to remove the task. The task is removed from the ClosingsLIVE portal and cannot be accessed by any contact until it has been reposted.

**NOTE**: The task is not removed from the ProForm order.

• **Changing permissions.** With the task highlighted, view the **Permissions** grid to change the settings applied from the template.

**REMEMBER:** If a document is attached to the task, permissions are also changed on the document.

To overwrite a permission setting applied from the template for the corresponding contact,

- a) To overwrite a permission setting applied from the template,
  - > Contact Level check the,
    - » Assign check box to grant permission for all people associated with the Contact to complete an action for that task.
      - **REMEMBER:** Assign permission automatically grants View and Notify permissions.
    - » View check box to change the view of the task for all people associated with the Contact.
    - » Notify check box to receive email notifications, push notifications via the mobile app, or SMS text notifications when the task is edited for all people associated with the Contact.

-Or-

- $\rangle$  Contact person level click the **Expand** |P| icon next to the Contact name and check the,
  - **»** Assign check box to grant permission for all people associated with the Contact to complete an action for that task.
    - **REMEMBER:** Assign permission automatically grants View and Notify permissions.
  - **»** View check box to change the view of the task for each person.
  - » Notify check box to receive email notifications, push notifications via the mobile app, or SMS text notifications when the task is edited for each person.
  - **NOTE**: The **View** or **Notify** check box is shown with a black square when permission is not granted for all people associated with the Contact.
- b) Repeat for each task as needed.
- **Milestone Tasks**. Checklist or requested tasks designated as a Milestone do not show in the **Activities** tab of the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool.



Milestone tasks are shared with users based on the **Permission Summary**. When a user is granted permission to view documents, contacts, activities or messages in the order, the user can see the order milestones. Refer to <u>More about Milestones</u> for more information on milestones.

NOTE: The Milestone Task feature is included in Select v4.3.28 and above.

#### **Send Messages**

Message can be sent to contacts in the ProForm Order from the **Messages** tab. From this tab a message can be added or removed, permissions can be changed for who can view a message or receive an email when a message is modified. Messages can be viewed via the web portal and, if registered, via the mobile app as well.

ClosingsLIVE- 2019010020		×
Order Documents Contacts Activities	Messages	
Sample Message 🖌 🖋	Sample Message Linked Documents	<u>remove</u> 3 🦽 🖉 🐾
	Link documen Order Attachment Browse	
	Buyer/borrower     B2 Bob Buyer     L Lender USA Bank     U2 USA Insurance	
	<ul> <li>✓ Seller</li> <li>&gt; Sally Seller</li> <li>▲ Other</li> </ul>	View Email
	A Title Company     T County Title Company, Inc.     O Clara Jones	
Add new message		Post Cancel

#### Add a Message

To add a message to the ClosingsLIVE website,

- 1. Click the Add new message link (bottom left).
- 2. Enter your message when prompted; press OK

The message is added and any permission settings from the template are automatically applied. Posting the order to the ClosingsLIVE Portal, adds your message to your ProForm order Notes. If the ClosingsLIVE category exists in SPAdmin then the Message Note defaults the ClosingsLIVE category as checked.



#### **Read Receipt**

When a message is sent, and read by your customer, a transaction is sent back to the 360 Queue. Upon accepting the transaction, the read receipt is appended to the original message in Order Notes.

**NOTE**: This transaction can be automatically accepted into the order in SoftPro Select using Select Automation rules.

This feature is disabled by default but can be enabled on a customer level in ClosingsLIVE.

#### Need to associate a document to a message?

Documents can be attached to a message and made available for your contacts to view. To associate a document to a message,

- 1. From the **Messages** tab, select a message from the list.
- 2. Attach a document, use the,
  - » Order Attachment link to attach a document already posted to the order.
  - » Browse link to navigate to the file on your computer.

Documents display in the Linked Documents grid once linked to a message.

ClosingsLIVE- 2019010020		×
Order Documents Contacts A	activities Messages	
Messages	_ /	
Sample Message	Sample Message	remove
	Linked Documents	
	Nor Affidavit	3 🤣 📝 🖏
	Link desumer Order Attachment Prouve	
	Bermissions	
	Buyer/Borrower	View Notify
	D B2 Bob Buyer	
	▷ Lender USA Bank	
	U2 USA Insurance	
	⊿ Seller	✓ View ✓ Email
	Sally Seller	
	△ Other	View 🗖 Email
	T County Title Company, Inc.	
	Clara Jones	
Add new message		
		Post Cancel

.

When attaching a document to a message, the document inherits the permissions granted on the message. If the message has **View** and **Notify** permissions granted, the attached document would then have **View** and **Notify** permissions granted.



The permissions on the Document may be manually changed without changing the Message permissions. However, if the permissions are changed on the Message, the attached Document once again inherits the Message permissions.

#### **Other Tips**

»

- Use the Linked Documents toolbar icons to,
  - Unlink a document
  - Rename a document

View or change permission settings of a document linked to a message

• **Removing a message.** When a message is selected, you can click the **remove** link in the top right to remove the message. The message is removed from the ClosingsLIVE portal and cannot be accessed by any contact until it has been reposted.

**NOTE**: The message is not removed from the ProForm order.

- **Changing permissions.** With the message highlighted, view the **Permissions** grid to change the settings applied from the template.
  - c) To overwrite a permission setting applied from the template,
    - > Contact Level check the,
      - » View check box to change the view of the message for all people associated with the Contact.
      - » Notify check box to receive notifications when the message is edited for all people associated with the Contact.
      - -Or-
    - Contact person level click the **Expand** icon next to the Contact name and check the,
      - » View check box to change the view of the message for each person.
      - » Notify check box to receive email notifications when the message is edited for each person.
      - **NOTE**: The **View** or **Notify** check box is shown with a black square when permission is not granted for all people associated with the Contact.
  - d) Repeat for each task as needed.
- Enterprise and Standard users only. Messages do not prepopulate from ProForm to the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool. If you would like to share messages, the message must be added separately using the tool. Any message added is added to your ProForm order after posting to ClosingsLIVE.



## **Ready to Post?**

Once the template is applied and the view and email permissions set for all the contacts associated to the order, it is time to Post.

Click the **Post** button to apply the settings and publish the Order on the ClosingsLIVE Portal for your customers.



When the order is posted to ClosingsLIVE, the name and email address of the Escrow Officer/Closer, Title Officer and Escrow Assistant are also published if the information is entered in the SoftPro order. Refer to <u>Messages –</u> <u>Sending/Receiving a Message to the Order Officer</u> for details.

Customers can then log into ClosingsLIVE via the web or mobile app to view the order and you can feel confident the permission settings established in the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool grant or restrict your contacts' access to the order information.

More about setting up a ClosingsLIVE account and accessing the portal can be found in the following sections.

#### **Other Tips**

Notifications. Once posted, an email notification, push notification and SMS text, if registered, are sent to each contact in the order with a valid email address and permission to view all or part of the order.
 A contact has a valid email address if the Email icon shows on the Order tab in the Permission Summary section or click the Information icon.



• **New Users.** New users receive an email invitation to create an account in the ClosingsLIVE Portal after the order has been posted to ClosingsLIVE. They must create an account to log into ClosingsLIVE and view the order information. They can download the mobile app and log in to view order information there as well. The ClosingsLive Mobile App uses the same login credentials as the ClosingsLive Portal.

# **Additional Information You Should Know**

## More about Templates

Templates are used to automatically apply permission settings for similar orders. This saves time by limiting the amount of setup work involved in posting an order to the ClosingsLIVE Portal. For each template you can set up rules unique to the template based on several variables including the type of transaction, the type of contacts associated to an order, the type of documents uploaded to ClosingsLIVE, or default contact permissions for specific documents and/or folders.

The ability for users to create, edit, copy or delete templates is set through enabling/disabling product template permissions. Contact SoftPro Support for further details.

#### **Create a New Template**

The following steps highlight creating a new template or adding rules to existing templates.

- 1. From the **Order** tab of the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool, click the **New Template** icon in the bottom left of the window.
- 2. The **Template Editor** window opens. From this window you can name the template and choose an order type to automatically apply the template to.
  - **NOTE**: Only one template can be automatically applied to an order type. For example, only one template can be set as the default for Purchase Orders.



To create a new template that should be automatically applied to a specific order type, open the template that is currently applied to the order type and select **None** from the **Automatically Apply to** drop-down. The previously defaulted order type is now available for selection in the new template.

3. Continue to **Create a Template Rule** if you wish to setup a rule for your new template.

#### **Create a Template Rule**

Rules are used to individually define the settings that should be applied to an order when posting to ClosingsLIVE.

The **Template Editor** window shows five tabs corresponding to the types of records viewable in the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool: **Documents, Contacts, Checklist Tasks, Requested Tasks**, and **Messages**.

ClosingsLI	/E- Template Editor	
Name: Nev	v Template	
Documents	Contacts Checklist Tasks Requested Tasks Notes	
And Locum	ent Rule Add Folder Rule	

- 1. Click the tab for the type of record you would like to apply a rule.
- 2. Click the link directly below the tabs to add a rule.

For example, when viewing the Documents tab, click the,

- » Add Document Rule link to create rules for a specific document. This option allows each document to have different rules applied.
- » <u>Add Folder Rule</u> link to create rules for specific folders. This option allows the rule to be automatically applied to any documents within the folder.

**NOTE:** Document and Folder rules can be manually changed once applied.

- 3. A new row is added in the rule pane. The rule pane lists all the rules associated with the record type for the template.
- 4. With the new entry highlighted, complete the rule setup using the options to the right.
- 5. Click **Save** to keep your changes and close the **Template Editor**.



me: Folder Templatel	Automatically apply to: Ness
Documents Intacts Checklist Tasks Requested Tasks Messages Add Document Rule	Patientation y uppy to. Thine
When a folder name Contains 'Commitment', grant View & Notify to user codes: B, L, T	Operation Contains
3	Query Commitment
	Permission View Votify
	B Buyers
	S Sellers
	Lenders
	Mortgage Brokers
	Listing Agent Brokers
	Selling Agent Brokers
	B-AT Buyer Attomeys
	Seller Attomeys
	G-AT Other Attomeys
	Tale Companies
	P Payoff Lenders
	BD Builders
	Loan Servicers
	Escrow Companies

#### **Remove a Template Rule**

- 1. From the **Template Editor**, click the tab to view all the rules for the record type.
- 2. Highlight the rule you wish to remove.
- 3. Click the **Delete** icon.

Name: General Purci	hase Template			-	1
Documents Oprita	cts Checklist Tasks	Requested Tasks	Messages		
Add Document Rul	eAdd Folde	r Rule			
When a document n	ame Starts With Order S	ummary', grant View	& Email to user co	des: B. S. LB. SB	Operat
When a document in O-AT, A. T. P. BD, L	ame Contains Welcome S. E. U. HOA. HMC. Q. (	, grant View to user ( D. AB, AP, GC, G, H.	codes: B, S, L, M, Z, HI, PI, SC, SU	LB, SB, B-AT, S-AT,	Query

#### **Example: Adding a Document Rule**

"I want every document that starts with Order Summary to be viewed by the buyer, seller, and their agents. In addition, if I change a document, an email will be sent to them as a notification that something has changed."



From the **Documents** tab

1. Click the Add Document Rule link

With the new entry highlighted,

- 2. From the **Operation** dropdown, select **Starts With**
- In the Query field, enter the name of the document (i.e., Order Summary)
- Check the View and Email check boxes so the contacts can view the document and receive a notification when it is changed or is added.
- 5. Check the corresponding check box for each user that



should be given access to view the document and receive the notification.

6. Click Save

**NOTE:** The above steps may also be followed when using the **Add Folder Rule**. The rule is then automatically applied to any document or subfolder within the corresponding folder.

#### **Example: Adding a Contacts Rule**

"I want both the buyers and sellers to be able to view the contact information for the Listing Agent and receive an email when the agent's contact information is changed."

From the **Contacts** tab,

- 1. Click the Add Contacts Rule link
- 2. From the **Contact** drop-down, select the **Listing Agent Brokers**
- Check the View and Email check boxes so the contacts can view the document and receive a notification when it is changed or is added.
- Check the corresponding check box for each user (i.e., Buyers and Sellers) that should be given access to view the contact and receive the notifications.





5. Click Save

#### **Example: Adding a Task Rule**

"When I add a Requested Task that contains the word Payoff, I want an email notification to be sent to the Payoff Lender."

From the Requested Tasks tab,

- 1. Click the Add Requested Task Rule link.
- 2. From the Operation dropdown, select Contains.
- 3. In the **Query** field enter the name of the task (i.e., Payoff).
- 4. Check the, View and Notify check boxes so the contacts can view the task and receive a notification when it is changed or is added.

e <b>Requested Tasks</b> tab,	ClosingsLIVE - Template Editor	×
Click the <b>Add Requested Task</b> <b>Rule</b> link.	Name: Purchase           Documents         Contacts         Checklist Tasks         Requested Tasks         Messages           ⅆ Checklist Task Rule         When a task mess Example 7 cont Vew to user codes         Image: Code State	Automatically apply to: Purchase
From the <b>Operation</b> drop- down, select <b>Contains</b> .	When a task name Contains Task', grant View, Notfy & Assign to user codes: B R	uery ermissionAssign View Notify sers
In the <b>Query</b> field enter the name of the task (i.e., Payoff).		Buyers Solers Lenders Montage Bridgers
Check the, <b>View</b> and <b>Notify</b> check boxes so the contacts can view the task and receive a notification when it is changed or is added.		Montgage brokens     Sularing Agent Brokens     Solarit Brokens     Title Companies     Payoff Lendens     Bo Builders     Solarit Brokens
If a Task requires a document be uploaded or a form completed online, check the <b>Assi</b> which automatically grants <b>Viev</b>	gn check box v and Notify	Save Cancel

- 5. Check the corresponding check box for each user that should be given access to view the document and receive the notification.
- 6. Click Save

permissions.

-Or-

## **More about Milestones**

Permission to view a Checklist Task or Requested Task designated as a Milestone cannot be set by checking the View or Email check box as is done with record types (i.e., Documents, Contacts, Activities or Messages). Milestones are shared with any user who has been granted permission to any record type (Documents, Contacts, Activities or Messages). Milestones are pushed to the Mobile App when two or more tasks are identified as milestones.

From the Orders tab, users see basic transaction information and Milestones are part of this information. When a user is granted permission to receive a notification to any record type, the user is notified of a Milestone when the task status is marked **Completed** or **Received** and the order is posted to ClosingsLIVE.



As an example, a Checklist Task designated as a Milestone is marked **Completed** or **Received** and the order posted to ClosingsLIVE. Based on the **Permission Summary**, the Buyer and Seller would receive an Order Update

🤣 Permission Summary	
Name	🕞 🍰 🗐 🗐 🐷 👗 🌋 🔔
B Home Buyer Org.	1 1 🖉 🖉 💽 🕃
SellerBank USA	- 1 1 🥏 💌 🔒
LB Green Homes Realty Inc.	- 1 🦻 🔕 🧻 👔
s8 Sotheby's International Realty	- 1 🧔 🥥 👔
A SoftPro Man Title LLC	🥏 🧔 🔂

notification, but the Listing Agent and Selling Agent would not. They can only see the updated Milestone the next time they log into ClosingsLIVE to view the order.

## **Troubleshooting**

**Duplicate Message.** You cannot create a duplicate message in the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool.



**Blank Message.** You cannot create an empty message in the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool.

SoftPro 36	
4	You must provide the note text or cancel adding the note
	ОК

**Duplicate Document Name.** You cannot rename a document with the same name of a document that already exists.

SoftPro 360	
4	A document with this name already exists in the order. Please choose a different document name.
	ОК



**Duplicate Template Name.** You cannot rename a template with the same name of a template that already exists.

**Deleting a Template.** Deleting a template affects all orders associated to the template. Removing it defaults all orders associated to the template to **None**. Any user-applied settings are erased.

**Template Not Found.** If a user opens an order that had a template applied that was deleted, the user receives a warning message alerting them that the template is not found.

**Reset Manual Permissions.** When the user applies a template to an order with manually modified permissions, the user receives a message to reset manually set permissions before applying the template. Clicking **Yes**, all manually set permissions are removed; **No**, all manually set permissions are saved.

**File Type Not Supported.** Only supported file types can be uploaded to ClosingsLIVE.



Delete Template Confirmation



OK

Deleting a template may affect permissions for other orders on the next





#### File type extensions of documents supported in ClosingsLIVE.

.asc	.bmp	.doc	.docx	.dotx	.docm	.dotm	.eps	.fnm
.gif	.ics	.jp2	.jpe	.jpeg	.jpg	.pct	.pdf	.pic
.pict	.png	.ppt	.pptx	.potx	.ppsx	.ppam	pptm	.potm
.ppsm	.ps	.rtf	.rtx	.tif	.tiff	.tr	.txt	.xht
.xls	.xml	.xlsx	.xltx	.xlsm	.xltm	.xlam	.xlsb	.xps



# **Your Customers View to Order Information**

Once you have posted an order to the ClosingsLIVE Portal, each contact with a valid email address receives an email notifying them to log into ClosingsLIVE either via a web browser or the mobile application to view the order.

To access the ClosingsLIVE Portal, the contact can click the link in the email or open an Internet Browser and enter <u>https://ClosingsLive.com</u> in the URL address. Customers may also download the mobile application from the AppStore.

## **First Time Users**

New customers who have not previously used ClosingsLIVE receive an email invitation to create their own account. The email provides a link to create an account with a password. Once created, they are immediately logged into ClosingsLIVE.

NOTE: Passwords are case sensitive.





The link provided in the invitation email only remains active for 72 hours. If the expiration time has elapsed, the customer can renew the invitation by clicking the **Click Here To Sign Up** button. Instead of proceeding to account setup, they are directed to enter the email address the invitation was sent to and click the **Renew** button.

There are up to three opportunities to enter the invitation email address. After the third attempt, the customer is directed to contact the Title, Escrow or Settlement Agent office to obtain a new link.

Your invitation to join She	ryl's Title and Closing has expired. If you wish to
renew your invitation, pl	ease enter the email address where you received the
invitatior	n and click the "Renew" button below:
	ion Email: Renew

This initiates an email with a six-digit verification code and a message is displayed indicating the code was sent. Once the code is entered, they are then directed to verify and proceed with setup.

CLOSINGSLIVE
Welcome to ClosingsLIVE! ClosingsLIVE is a web based tool that streamlines communications with your closing and title professionals, making the closing process faster, easier, and more cost effective. (+1 XXX-XXX-1320)
Enter Code 251378 Sent
Verify
Sign Out



The verification code expires five minutes after being issued. There are up to three opportunities for verification. After the third attempt, the customer is directed to contact the Title, Escrow or Settlement Agent office to obtain a new link.

To send the email to first time users: Set up the contact in ProForm with a valid email address and use the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool to give the contact access to the appropriate areas of ClosingsLIVE. When posted in the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool, an email is automatically sent to instruct the user how to set up an account and access the portal.

When they click the **Click Here To Log In** button in the email, they are prompted to enter information to create their account.

Wed 2/24/2021 9:21 AM	
SoftPro (410060) <noreply@l1.softprohq.com></noreply@l1.softprohq.com>	Welcome to SoftPro.
Order 2021020096lq1 Has Been Added To ClosingsLIVE	Create your SoftPro account
To rogerrealtor (#email.com	
CLOSINGSLIVE	
	Enter new neceword
Order #2021020096lq1 has been added to ClosingsLIVE	
	Password requirements:
SoftPro (4100bu) added the following order to ClosingsLive:	At least 9 charactere
Order Number: 2021020096lq1	A lowerce letter
Address: 3810 Lee Road	An uppercase letter
Transaction Type: Purchase	An upper case retter
Status: InProcess	A number
To view this order click the "log in" button below or visit the following location:	No parts of your username
https://lq1.softprohq.com/Apiv2/invitations/f70c7d9a-c476-eb11-810a-	Does not include your first name
005056b315be	Does not include your last name
that time, you will need to contact SoftPro (410060) to receive a new link.	Your password cannot be any of your last 10 passwords
	- Tool password carnot be any or your last to passwords
	Repeat new password
Click Here 10 Log IN	
SoftPro 300 http://www.softprocorp.com 1-800-848-0143	
Click <u>here</u> to unsubscribe from these emails.	
	Add a phone number for resetting your password or unlocking your
	account using SMS (optional)
	Okta can send you a text message with a recovery code. This feature is
	useful when you don't have access to your email.
	Add Phone Number
	Add a phone number for resetting your password or unlocking your
	account using Voice Call (optional)
	Okta can call you and provide a recovery code. This feature is useful
	when you don't have access to your email.
	Add Phone Number
	Create My Account



**NOTE**: If your website is configured to use the Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA) when logging in, refer to the section, *Setting Up Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA)*, for instructions on setting up verification options.

## **Existing Users**

Customers who already have a ClosingsLIVE account receive an email notification, a push notification via the mobile app, and a SMS text, if registered, when an order has been posted or updated. The link provided opens an internet browser and prompts the user to log into ClosingsLIVE.

CLOSINGSLIVE	Please sign in using your account
Order #2021020096lq1 has been added to ClosingsLIVE	Email
SoftBro (410050) added the following order to Closings IVE:	charlottesmith@email.com
Solerio (410000) added the following order to	Password
Order Number: 2021020096lq1	
Address: 3810 Lee Road	
Transaction Type: Purchase	
Status: InProcess	Remember me
To view this order click the "log in" button below or visit the following location:	
https://lq1.softprohq.com/Apiv2/invitations/f70c7d9a-c476-eb11-810a- 005056b315be	Sign In
If you are a new user, this link will allow you to register for up to 72 hours. After	
that time, you will need to contact SoftPro (410060) to receive a new link.	Need help signing in?
	Forgot password?
Click Here To Log In	
	Help
Freework To 300 http://www.softurocom.com 3ottP70 300 1-500-848-0143	SOFTPR
Click here to unsubscribe from these emails.	authentication by Ok

- Users who forgot their password may click the **Forgot password** link on the Log In screen.
- Users who forgot their username may use the email address associated to the contact record in the ProForm Order to log into ClosingsLIVE.
- **NOTE**: If your website is configured to use the Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA) when logging in, refer to the section, *Setting Up Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA)*, for instructions on setting up verification options.

# **Viewing Orders on ClosingsLIVE**

Once a user is registered with ClosingsLIVE, they have the option of viewing orders by logging into the ClosingsLIVE Portal or the ClosingsLIVE Mobile Application. The following provides an overview of each method.


## **ClosingsLIVE Portal**

After a user logs into the ClosingsLIVE Portal, they have access to all the orders associated with their email address and have been granted permission to view.

If a customer works with another user or company that also utilizes SoftPro ProForm, these orders are listed on the site as well. Each order is shown with their Brand logo and color based on the client setup.

peration A	8		▼ Filte	Find Order	5		Search	Clear								
rand	el•			Order No. <b>T</b>	Order Date 📍	Property Addre	ss 🍸	Trans. Type	Status T	Buyer/Borrower	T	Seller	Ŧ	Project	Ŧ	Sett. Dal
	*	8	œ	2022010006	01/04/2022	8304 Lakewoo	t Dr	Purchase	InProcess	Billy Buyer		-		-		-
K		•	œ	2021120005	12/27/2021	1506 Doughton	St	Purchase	InProcess	-		-		-		-

**SMS Text**. If SMS Text Alerts have been enabled for the user's company, the *SMS text is now available. Click Here to subscribe or Do not show again* message is displayed in the banner. The user can opt to register by clicking the Click Here link or no longer display the message by clicking **Do not show again** link.

CLOSINGS	IVE		SMS t	ext is now available.	<u>Click Here</u> to subscribe or	<u>Do not show again</u> .	C
My Orders	Requests	Place Order					
Find Orde	rs		Search	Clear			
Brand	Recent		Order No.	Order Date	Property Address	Trans. Type	Status

**Registering for SMS Text Notifications.** A user has two options to register for text alert messages. They can register via the **Click Here** option in the displayed message cited above or by accessing their **Account Settings** and selecting the **Preference** tab.

SMS text is n	ow available Click H	<i>lere</i> to subscri	by or <u>Do not show again</u> .			Ord	ers Ruser@fnf.com
SEE2024050040							Account Settings Log Out
ty Address	Trans. Type	Status	Buyer/Borrower	Seller	Project	Sett. Date	Loan Number
potfield Dead	Durohaaa	InDrococc	Robby Ruyor			02/07/2024	100100100



• Using the **Click Here** link immediately opens the **Register for SMS alert** window. Enter the pertinent information. The **Subscribe Now** button becomes active once the required information (**Phone**) is entered and the user agrees to the **Terms of Service** and **Privacy Policy**. Click the Subscribe Now button to complete the registration.

CLOSINGSLIVE	SMS text is now availab	le Click Here	o subscribe or	Do not show again.	
	Register for SMS alert ×				
My Orders	SMS text messages are now available. Sign up to receive them by providing your cell phone number and name below. PHONE *				
Brand Re		Prope	erty Address	Trans. Type	St
	I agree to receive automated SMS messages. I also agree to the Terms of Service and Privacy Policy.				
	This agreement isn't a condition of any purchase. Recurring alerts regarding document, message, or milestone updates may occur. Message and data rates may apply. You can cancel the SMS service at any time.				

• Using the Account Settings > Preference tab. From this screen, the user can,

SMS text is n	ow available. <u>Click F</u>	<u>Here</u> to subscr	be or <u>Do not show again</u> .			On	ders	Ruser@fnf.o	com⊙
2024050040	)						C	Account Settir Log Out	igs
Idress	Trans. Type	Status	Buyer/Borrower	Seller	Project	Sett. Date	Loan	Number	
d Dood	Durchase	InDrococo	Robby Ruyor			02/07/2024	10040	224.22	

- Select the **Customer** (f they receive notifications for more than one company) to set their notification preference for that customer.
- **Opt out of alerts** this disables all notifications (email or text)
- Select which notifications are received by type, (Text Message and/or Email) and by Transactions (New Order and/or Order Update) by checking the corresponding check boxes.

**NOTE: Text Messages** can only be set for customers that have enabled the feature. If the feature is not active, the check boxes are not enabled.



ext is now available. <u>Cilck Here</u> to 050040	o subscribe or <u>Do not show again</u> .			Orders	Ruser@fnf.com - Account Settings
My Account	My Information Preferences Pa Notification Delivery Preferent (111103 COP Transactions New Order Order Update	assword & Security  Ces  Customer  Text Message	Email Register for SMS alert SMS text messages are r by providing your cell pf PHONE *	now available. S	ign up to receive them id name below.
* – Denotes a required field If a user has not yet r box is selected (for <b>Register for SMS ale</b> the pertinent inform to complete their registered, when an o	registered for <b>Text Messag</b> either <b>New Order</b> or <b>Ord</b> e <b>rt</b> window opens. The use nation and click the <b>Subscr</b> gistration.	<b>ges</b> , once a check <b>ler Update</b> ), the er can then enter <b>ribe Now</b> button	LAST NAME l agree to receive au the Terms of Service This agreement isn't a cc alerts regarding docume may occur. Message and the SMS service at any t	utomated SMS m and Privacy Pol ondition of any p ent, message, or data rates may time. Subscribe Now	nessages. I also agree to licy. purchase. Recurring milestone updates rapply. You can cancel

Once registered, when an order is added, updated or documents sent, a text message is sent to the phone number entered in the **Account Settings** indicating the action occurred citing the company name, the property address and providing a link to the web portal.

Sent from your Twilio trial account -SoftPro Man Title has shared a document for 4800 Falls of Neuse Rd. Click here <u>https://qafuture.live.softprohq.com/</u> to view. To opt out of future SMS messages, reply STOP.





# Working in ClosingsLIVE

**Searching for Orders.** When search criteria is entered in the **Find Orders** field, the application searches across all columns on the screen. If the search criteria is found, the orders are filtered to show only those that match the criteria. Clicking the **Clear** button returns the full list.

**View an Order.** Click **View** to open an Order in a new tab. Here they can view all the information about the order including the address, order date, names of the buyer, seller, escrow officer/closer, title officer and escrow assistant as well as milestones if the feature is in use.

View of orders with no tasks set as milestones.



View of an order with tasks set as milestones.

CLOSINGSLIVE		Orders susan.rivera-stoll@softprocorp.com +
My Orders Requests Place Order Recent Orders: 2021060107 2021060106		
Order #09172020 — Holding Village, Wake Forest, NC 27587		
Order Opened Transaction Type	Purchase	
I Order Status	InProcess	Holding Village
Earnest Money Received Order Date	06/14/2021	View larger map
Title Report Complete Settlement Date	07/30/2021 (Estimated)	
Settlement Time	TBD	A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR O
Closing Scheduled Buyer(s)/Borrower(s)	Indiv Buyer1	Bridgeton Ave
Seller(s)	—	Meadow Mews
Final Policy Complete Escrow Officer/Closer	Emily E. Escrow	
Customer Survey Sent Title Officer	Tommy T. Title	
Escrow Assistant	-	Total Deck Care
Disbursement Date	07/30/2021	Map Data Torms of Use Report a map error
Messages lasks Contacts Documents		



**View Messages.** Users can view messages associated with an order from the tab section below the Google Map view of the property's address. Click **View** to open and view the message; unread messages appear in **bold** font.

Message	s Tasks Contacts Documen	ts		
Inbox	Sent New Message			
	Subject	Message	Created By	Date
	Sub1	Test1 Test2	410060Customer	08/30/2017
	Sub2	Test1 Test2	410060Customer	08/30/2017
	Demo	7/23/21	410060 Customer	07/23/2021

Contacts may only view an activity in which they have been granted **View** access from the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool.

**View Tasks.** Users can view Tasks associated to an order from the tab section below the Google Map view of the property's address. Click **View** to open any documents associated to the tasks. Contacts may only view an activity in which they have been granted **View** access from the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool.

Message	s Tasks Contacts Documents				
	Task Name	Status	Requested	Completed	
<b>1</b> 0	Cancel Prior Mtg/DT	None	-	_	
	Mail Payoffs	Completed	-	01/21/2019	
	Prepare Loan Package	Completed	_	01/21/2019	
	Deed Preparation	Requested	01/21/2019	_	
<b>1</b> 0	Title Exam	None	_	_	

If an action was assigned to a task, upload a form or complete an online form, the Tasks tab shows a Task badge with the number of items awaiting action.

Message	s Task Contacts Documents				
	Task Name		Action	Status	Completed
D	Upload Marriage Certificate	Click an Action button to complete	Upload	Required	-
CD	Complete Buyer Information Sheet		Complete Form	Required	-

Click the **Action** button, **Upload** a form or **Complete Form**, associated with the Task to complete.



If the Action is,

> **Upload**, the program opens to the **Messages** window. This allows you to attach a file to upload and respond via email. The message is addressed to the party that sent you the message by default.

Click the **Select files** button to navigate out to the folder where the document is stored. Double-click the document (or highlight and select Open to select the document).

b: Test User		~	Attachments:	Larger docum	ents may require e:	tra			
ubject:									
	C Open								_
lessage:	← → - ↑ ↓ → Π	his PC → Downloads				~	0 1	D Search Downloads	
	Organize - New fold	ler.	/					Bit • 11	
	ConeDrive - Fidelit	Name V Earlier this year (4)	Date modified	Type	Size				
	Appliction maps Attachments Cadidate Intervis	ML Recording.mp4     MeridianLink update to documents secti     Quick tour.mp4     New Live Mobile App and Fillable Forms	3/29/2023 7:36 PM 3/29/2023 7:18 PM 3/13/2023 8:20 PM 3/13/2023 8:07 PM	MP4 Video MP4 Video MP4 Video MP4 Video	43,188 KB 58,187 KB 17,328 KB 154,241 KB				
	Desktop	A long time ago (34)     Filable Forms.bmpr     New Pariset I bmpr	12/20/2022 5:50 PM	Balsamiq Wirefra	1,804 KB				
	Microsoft Teams	SSA Marriage Certificate.pdf	10/7/2022 1:45 PM 10/7/2022 1:45 PM 10/7/2022 1:45 PM	Adobe Acrobat D Adobe Acrobat D	135 KB 162 KB				
	Giffice Lens	Breakdown Sheet.pdf     ALTA Commitment (6-17-06) (1).pdf     ALTA Loan Policy (6-17-06).pdf	10/4/2022 1:45 PM 10/4/2022 1:42 PM 10/4/2022 1:41 PM	Adobe Acrobat D., Adobe Acrobat D., Adobe Acrobat D.,	30 KB 117 KB 162 KB				
	Personal Recordings	ALTA Commitment (6-17-06).pdf b0e4610e-aff1-494c-bcfe-f79003dee01a.e ActivePresenter_v9.0.0_setup.exe	10/4/2022 1:41 PM 10/4/2022 1:40 PM 10/4/2022 11:15 AM	Adobe Acrobat D E-mail Message Application	117 KB 49 KB 73,971 KB				
	ServiceDesk	ALTA Single Transaction Indemnity Letter     DublicDoc-AFXTestLog_0 - 2022-09-04T2     public documents scenarios.docx	10/3/2022 10:09 PM 9/6/2022 10:19 AM 9/6/2022 10:08 AM	Adobe Acrobat D., Microsoft Edge H., Microsoft Word D.,	88 KB 47 KB 753 KB				
	📙 Title Training	Field mapping.xlsx	8/30/2022 7:03 PM	Microsoft Excel W	45 KB				

Once the document is uploaded, continue to enter your message. The recipient defaults to the party that sent the message to you. Click the **Submit** button to send.

vew wessage	
To:	Attachments:
Test User	Select files Larger documents may require extra time. SSA Marriage Certificate.pdf
ubject: Marriage Certificate	
Nessage:	
Please find the attached marriage certificate.	

Online Form, the program opens the associated online form in the default browser window allowing the recipient to enter the necessary information. Click the Next button to continue through the form.

CLOSINGSLIV

**NOTE:** No fields are set as required by default.

Forms vary in length, so continue to click the **Next** button until the **Submit** button is shown (on the last page). Once the information is entered, click the **Submit** button to send the completed form.

Buyer Info	rmation Sheet
Order No.:	
SEE2023050025	
Property Address:	
Street Address	
Street Address Line 2	
	Please Select ~
City	State
Zip Code	
*NOTE: All drop down values need to	be cleared before changing your selection!
Buyer Form:	
Individual Organization	



Once the form is submitted, the **Thank You** message is displayed confirming submission.



The Tasks tab no longer displays the badge icon and the Action status has changed to Submitted.

	Task Name	Action	Status	Completed
0	Upload Marriage Certificate	Submitted	Required	-
10	Complete Buyer Information Sheet	Submitted	Required	

**View Contacts.** Users can view contacts associated to an order from the tab section below the Google Map view of the property's address. Expand the contact or click **View** to view additional information about the contact for this order. Contacts may only view other contact information in which they have been granted **View** access from the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool.

Message	s Tasks	Contacts	Documents			
	Name			Phone	Main Contact	
L	Lender USA Bank		(234)098-0349	Michelle Leonard	*	
U2	USA Insurance		(800)292-5320			

**View documents.** Users can view documents associated to an order from the tab section below the Google Map view of the property's address.

		📩 Downioa
	File Name	Created
	Liss.pdf	11/17/2022
1	SoftProLiveUserGuide.pdf	11/17/2022
	Enhanced Screens Training Workbook - Getting Started and Order Creation.pdf	11/17/2022



Check the corresponding check(es) of the document(s) you wish to download to the local computer. You can also check the **All documents** check box to download all documents at one time. Once the documents are selected, click the **Download** button to proceed.

When an individual document is downloaded, the file is saved as the original file type (i.e., pdf, doc, etc.). When multiple documents are downloaded, the file is saved as a zipped file.

Contacts may only view documents in which they have been granted **View** access from the ClosingsLIVE Administrative Tool.



## **ClosingsLIVE Mobile App**

Once a user logs into the ClosingsLIVE Mobile App, they have access to all the orders associated with their email address and have been granted permission to view. They can view property information, messages, documents shared with them, and closing dates. Users can quickly see when the order status has changed, or items have been shared by enabling push notifications.

If a customer works with another company that also utilizes SoftPro ProForm, these orders are listed on the app as well. Like the Web Portal, each order can be shown with the corresponding Brand logo and color based on the client setup.

### Logging into the Mobile App

The user logs into the app using the ClosingsLIVE credentials and Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA) method (Okta Verify, SMA Authentication, or Voice Call Authentication).



Once logged into the application, the session remains active for 30 minutes. If actively using the application, the session can remain active for up to four hours. The user can return to the application without having to log back during this time. If, however, the active session time has elapsed (no use for any given 30 minutes), the user is required to log in utilizing the steps outlined above.

During an active session, clicking a push notification opens the order without having to step through the log in process.







## Transaction (Home) Screen

Once logged in, the **Transaction** screen shows a list of the transactions the user has been granted permission to view.





From the Home screen the user can view the orders their emails are associated with and have been granted access to view. This view can be modified by clicking the **Change** link.



### Users can,

- show a list of orders with a property map (default setting) or without a property map (compact setting)
- include and sort ascending or descending by,
  - o Open Date
  - o Closing Date
  - o Milestone
  - o Buyer
  - o Seller
  - o Address
  - Status Open, Canceled and/or Closed

From either view setting, to see an order's details, click an entry on the Home screen.





The order detail screen shows the,

- Property address
- Property map
- Milestones there must be at least two milestones set in the order to appear in the mobile app. Click the
   Information (i) icon to view a list of all milestones.
- Closing Date shows **Estimated Closing** if the **Estimated date/time** is checked in the ProForm order or **Final Closing** if the **Estimated date/time** is unchecked.
- Information icon opens the Information window which shows the order number, Escrow Office and a list of milestones.
- Items from the **Feed** relating to this order, and any documents that have been shared.





The **Last Completed** section identifies the recently completed milestone along with the total number of milestones and the number completed.

To see the list of all milestones, click the **Information** icon to view the **Escrow Number**, **Escrow Office** and the list of **Milestones** with their status. There must be at least two milestones set in the order to appear in the mobile app.



The **Contacts** shown are the parties granted access. To view their entered contact information (i.e., phone numbers, email address), click the corresponding contact. The contact's email address is a link which opens the email software on the phone providing the ability to compose and send a message to that contact.



Latest View All
View All
View All
A/5/23
Order Shared
2022100117
Order Information

The **Latest** section shows the most current events (i.e., order shared, documents recently added, etc.) for the transaction. Click **View All** to see all events for this transaction.

Clicking the event takes the user to the corresponding screen (i.e., **Order Shared** opens the Order Details, **Document Added** opens

the specific document) providing all the available functionality of the screen, like sharing a document, sending a message, etc.



Scrolling down in the app allows the user to see the **Documents** section. From here the user can click the most recently received document or click the **View All** link to view all shared documents. Documents can be viewed on screen or click the

**Share** icon (upper right corner of document) to use the devices options for sending the document via email, save to files, etc.



### Feed Screen

The user can click the **Feed** option to view a list of all events (i.e., orders shared, messages received, milestone tasks, etc.) as soon as they are published. The Badge identifies the number of unviewed events across all orders.

The information is listed by property address, milestones and closing dates. Like the **Transaction** screen, the view can be modified by clicking the **Change** link. The information can be sorted by **Newest first** (default setting) or **Oldest first** as well as the **Time Range** (Today, One Week, One Month, or All Items).







Indicator icons identify whether the event has been viewed (colored dots) and the type of event (event icons).

•	$\oslash$	Order Shared
•		Document Added
•		Milestone Updated
•	Q	Message Added

Click an entry to view in more detail (i.e., open a document or read a message as well as reply to the message).



### Messages Screen

Click the **Messages** option to view the latest messages sent or received.



This option shows the date and time the message was sent, along with the subject and a short preview of the

message. Clicking an entry on the screen opens the message and provides access to the **Message** icon to create and send a reply. Once the message is entered, click **Send** to submit.



CLOSINGSLIVE

50



When the client submits a message, it is displayed in the **360 Queue** with a **Status** of **Ready** and is identified in the **Event** column as an **IsMessage**.

Queue											
📀 Nex	t Step 🔘 🛛	🗐 📄 Viev	s: Ready Tr	ansactions	- 🚖 📝 🗟 📸	Filter: All Providers	- 2				
	Provider	Service	Status	Linked Order	Linked Profile	Created By	Created On	Completed On	Description	Event	Transaction Number
• 🖂 !	SoftPro	Live	Ready	NP2023020016	Default Mobile Testing	System Administrator	5/1/2023 2:55 PM			IsMessage	555321-60-230501-440716
• 🖂 🕈	SoftPro	Live	Ready	2022100117	Default	System Administrator	4/5/2023 3:30 PM			IsMessage	555321-60-230405-438039
• 🖂 🕈	SoftPro	Live	Ready	SH2023040013	Default	System Administrator	4/5/2023 2:58 PM			IsMessage	555321-60-230405-438033
• 🖂 🕈	SoftPro	Live	Ready	NP2023020012	Default Wobile Testing	System Administrator	4/4/2023 9:05 AM			IsMessage	555321-60-230404-437997
• 🖂 🕈	SoftPro	Live	Ready	NP2023020012	DefaultWobile Testing	System Administrator	4/2/2023 6:52 AM			IsMessage	555321-60-230402-437969
• 🖂 🕈	SoftPro	Live	Ready	NP2023020016	Default Wobile Testing	System Administrator	3/30/2023 11:53 AM			IsMessage	555321-60-230330-437932
• 🖂 🕈	SoftPro	Live	Ready	NP2023020012	Default Wobile Testing	System Administrator	3/30/2023 11:40 AM			IsMessage	555321-60-230330-437929
14 of 14	4 results at 2:	56 PM									
🐞 Err	ors and Warn	ings 🛃 My	Work Items	Search Results	🚳 Queµe						

Clicking the **Next Step** button allows the user to review and **Accept** the message.

Marcana		Save to No
Received: 5/1/2023 2:55:16 PM		
Subject: Hello Nikki		
Thank you for your assistance!Sheryl		
Attachments		
View Name	Size	Progress

### Profile Screen

The final option on the toolbar is the **Profile** option.





From this screen the user can view the **Name**, **Email** and **Phone Number** associated with the account. The password is also changed from this screen.

2:56 LTE	
CLOSINGSLEE	$\otimes$
IA	Change Password
	Current Password
MY PROFILE	Now Propuerd
Name 1 Integration AgencyUser	New Password
Email Address integrationagencyuser@fnf.com	Confirm Password
Phone Number (555) 555-5555	SUBMIT
Last Login	Password Requirements
4/5/2023 at 2:39PM EDT	At least 8 characters
	A lowercase letter
	• An uppercase letter
	• A symbol
	Does not include your first name
	Does not include your last name
	<ul> <li>Confirmed password matches your new password</li> </ul>
CHANGE PASSWORD	Note: Your password cannot be any of your last 10 passwords
Transactions Feed Messages	



# **Updating User Account Settings Online**

To update account settings when logged into the web portal, click your email address on the toolbar (upper right) and select **Account Settings**.

SOFTPR		Orders	charlottesmith@email.com -
My Orders	Requests Place Order		Log Out

From the **My Account** window, the user can update profile information, set notification delivery preferences (email and text messages), and change password and security settings.

My Account			×			
	My Information Ema	il Preferences Password & Securit	ly			
	Email/Username	charlottesmith@email.com	-			
Manage My Photo	Eine Manne	Oberlatte	-			
	First Name	Charlotte	*			
	My Account				×	
		My Information Prefe	Password & Ser	curity		
		Notification Deliver	y Preferences			
			My Account			×
	Manage My Photo			My Information Ema	ail Preferences Password &	Security
		Transactions		Change Password	I	
		Order Update	Manage My Photo	Password Requirements	<ul> <li>At least 8 characters.</li> <li>A lowercase and an uppe number and a symbol.</li> <li>No parts of your usernam</li> <li>Does not include your firs name.</li> <li>Cannot be any of your last</li> </ul>	rcase letter, a ie. st name or your last st 10 passwords.
	We Donotos a required fir	stat.	-	Current Password	Password	*
	- Denotes a required no	nu -	-	New Password	New Password	*
				Confirm Password	Confirm Password	*
					L	Jpdate Password
				Change Login Pre	ferences	
				To chang including A new bro you	ge your user login prefere multi-factor authentication on the link below. owser window will open a in to your profile in Okta Okta Account Settings	nces, n, click .nd log



**NOTE**: The **Password & Security** tab also provides access to the **Okta Account Settings**. Okta is the account identity management system used by ClosingsLIVE. The link directs users to their Okta settings where they can configure and update password and multi-factor authentication options (if required).

If your website is configured to use the Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA) when logging in, refer to the section, *Setting Up Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA)*, for instructions on setting up verification options.

SOFTPRO	My Information Email Preferences Password & Security Change Password  At least 8 characters. Password  At least 8 characters. Change Login Preferences To change your user login preferences, including multi-factor authentication, click on the link below. A new browser window will open and log you in to your profile in Okta. Okta Account Settings
▲ Personal Information     Exit       First name     Charlotte       Last name     Smith       Okta username     charlottesmths@email.com       Primary email     charlottesmths@email.com       Mobile phone	Change Password  Pessword requirements:  A fuest 8 characters  A supplements  A upparease letter  A symbol  No parts of your username  Does not trucke your fait name  Does not trucke your fait name  Current password  New password
Your security image gives you additional assurance that you are logging into Okta, and not a fraudulent website.         Image: Comparison of the output of	Confirm new password Change Password Change Password Forgot Password Text Message Okta can sand you a bat message with a recovery code. This feature is useful when you don't have access to your email. Add Phone Number
Language English Your direkti kinguage has been automatically set by your browneer To chinge your language places and and save your desired display language.	Forgot Password Volce Call  Okta can call you and provide a recovery code. This feature is useful when you don't have access to your email.      Add Phone Number      Extra Verification  Extra Verification increases your account security when signing in to Okta and other applications you use  Okta Verify Set up  SMS Authentication Set up
	Voice Call Authentication Set up



By using the **Create PDF Hyperlink** icon a user can add hyperlinks and/or attachments to any document. Hyperlinks and Attachments may be added through all rich-text formatting dialogs. This provides the user with the means to create valuable in-text references.

For example, a hyperlink could be added to Requirements and Exceptions which could point the recipient to a supporting document on a webpage such as a deed.

Within the **Edit Requirement or Exception** dialog box, place your cursor in front of the text you want to become a hyperlink or attachment and add an open bracket '['. Place your cursor at the end of the text and close the text with a closed bracket ']'.

In our example, we want the tax parcel verbiage to be hyperlinked. We enter, [Tax Parcel No.: 722509279009].

Edit Requirement or Exception	
Type: Requirement 👻	Show on document
Code: TAX	Show with numbering
B I ∐ abe ≤7 (~ 111 😣 🧐	R 450
<ul> <li>۲</li></ul>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Taxes for the year 2019 are now due and	payable Parcel No.: 72-25-09-279-00
	and closed bracket after text.

**IMPORTANT:** To attach or hyperlink a document, the document must be in the **Attachments** folder of your order or posted to ClosingsLIVE. The document name must be the same as the text within the open/closed brackets.

Example:

CLOSINGS

Text to be hyperlinked: [Tax Parcel No. 722509279009] Document name: Tax Parcel No. 722509279009

+- BB 2 2				
Attachments	Name	Description	Туре	Source
	剧 Tax Parcel No.722509279009	Invoice	Adobe Acrob	Published



Publish the document containing the hyperlinked reference to the **Attachments** folder. In this example the commitment will contain the hyperlinked Tax Bill.

+- 🗟 🗟 🖂 🗟 🖨 🕯				
📔 Attachments	Name	Description	Туре	Source
	ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16)	Commitment	Adobe Acrob	Published
	🔒 Tax Parcel No.722509279009	Invoice	Adobe Acrob	Published

# **Creating Hyperlinks or Attachments in the Commitment**

1. From the **Order** ribbon, click the **Create PDF Document** button.

	Order Tools	O	rder CDF-Hyperlink -	SoftPro Sel	ect		х
360	Order						0
0 achments	III Document H	listory Prowser	<ul> <li>Apply Template</li> <li>Overlay Order</li> <li>Rename Order</li> </ul>	Submit	Create Pdf Document	360 View Transaction	ns
Docum	ients		Actions	Workflow	Hyperlinked	Transactions	

### The Select Source Document window opens.

2. Highlight the source document to create the hyperlinks and/or attachments. If the document is within a folder, double click the folder to open.

The Source Document is the document you defined with the open/closed brackets and published to the **Attachments** folder.

3. Click Select.

### From the Create a Hyperlinked Document window,

- 4. In the Name field, enter the URL or check the applicable check box to attach to the commitment
- 5. Click Create



In our example the Use Attachment check box is checked because the document being hyperlinked has been saved to the Attachments folder within the order.

Create	a Hyperlinked Docume	nt							
Source	Document:	\\CDF19-0	099\Att	tachme	nts\AL	TA Commitment for Ti	itle Insurance (8-1	-16).pdf	
Hyperli	nked Document Name:	\\CDF19-0	099\Att	tachme	nts\Hy	perlinked Commitmen	t.pdf		
		All from	n Attacł	nments		All from SoftPro Live	e 📃 Do Not	Create Any Lin	ıks
	Name		Use A	Attachn	nent	Use SoftPro Live	URL		
	and	0							
•	Tax Parcel No. 7220927	9009							
							Create	Cancel	

6. Publish the document to ClosingsLIVE



In ClosingsLIVE,

- 7. Click the **Documents** tab
- 8. Highlight the hyperlinked document
- 9. Check the corresponding check box for those contacts you want to grant **View** permission.
- 10. Check the **Public Documents** check box (if permission is granted) to allow the document to be shared by the recipient. For more information on Public Documents, refer to <u>Share a Document</u> (page 9).
- 11. Click the **Post** button



The Custor	ner can click the hyperlinked text to access the document via URL /	WEB address or as an attachme	ent to

Post

Cancel

Add new document: Browse





# **Messages**

# Sending/Receiving an Order Officer Message

When the SoftPro order is posted to ClosingsLIVE, the name and email address of the Escrow Officer/Closer, Title Officer and Escrow Assistant are automatically published if the information is entered in the SoftPro Settlement Agent Contact in the order. The names are then displayed on the Order Details screen in ClosingsLIVE.

Displaying the Order Officers may be enabled/disabled as needed. Contact SoftPro Support for further details.



This allows your customer the opportunity to send or reply to a message and include an Order Officer as a recipient.



Messages — Order No. 2021060107	×
New Message To: To: Tommy T. Title, Title Officer	Attachments:           Select files         Larger documents may require extra time.
Subject: I have a question for Tommy Title, Title Officer Message:	
	Submit Close/Cancel

If an Order Officer is selected, the message is sent to the Notification Email Address associated with the profile configured in SPLive as well as the email associated with the Escrow Officer\Closer, Title Officer or Escrow Assistant listed in these fields in Select.

In our example, Tommy T. Title, Title Officer was selected, and the email message sent to the SoftPro Raleigh Office and Tommy T. Title, Title Officer.

From:	
Sent: N	Ionday, June 14, 2021 9:28 AM
To: 50	tProRaleigh@email.com; tommytitleofficer@email.com;
Subject	: A New Message Has Been Added to SoftPro LIVE Order 2021060107

Once the message is received, in Select, the 360 Queue shows the order officer name under the **Provider Reference Name** column.

ę.		-				and the second strength		il se se la		_								
	8	Wexs:	Active Order		* 1925 1936	Fitter: All Provi	ders	- 9 11	2					-				
	Provider	Service	Status	Linked Order	Linked Profile	Created By	Created On	Completed On	Provider	Sent To	Category	Description	Provider Reference Name	Event	Contact	Product	Sub Product	Transaction Number
	SoftPro					System Administrator	6/21/2021 1:32 PM			\\Default	Settlement Services		emlyescrow@fnf.com					
٠	SoftPro	Live	Completed	To621a	Default	System Administrator	6/21/2021 1:24 PM	6/21/2021 1:24 PM		\\Default	Settlement Services		jimmytitle@fnf.com	IsMessage	agencyuser@fnf.com			111103-60-210621-3033
٠	SoftPro	Live	Completed	To621a	Default	System Administrator	6/21/2021 1:24 PM	6/21/2021 1:24 PM		\\Default	Settlement Services			IsRead				111103-60-210621-3033
	SoftPro	Live	Completed	To621a	Default	AgencyUser	6/21/2021 1:23 PM	6/21/2021 1:23 PM			Settlement Services							111103-60-210621-3033
٠	SoftPro	Live	Completed	To621a	Default	System Administrator	6/21/2021 1:09 PM	6/21/2021 1:09 PM		\/Default	Settlement Services		escrowassistant@email.com	IsMessage	agencyuser@fnf.com			111103-60-210621-3033
	SoftPro	Live	Completed	To621a	Default	AgencyUser	6/21/2021 1:08 PM	6/21/2021 1:09 PM			Settlement Services							111103-60-210621-3033

If the **Provider Reference Name** column is not visible, click the **Columns** icon on the 360 Queue toolbar to select as an active column. You can also select the Contact name to show the email sender's name in the 360 Queue. Select users can create a custom 360 view to see only those messages sent to a specific Order officer.

Once the message is accepted, the **Order Notes** screen is updated with the email message including the recipient.

## **Receiving Task Submission Messages**

When a customer completes an action associated with a task, a message is received identifying the task is complete and the associated form or data received.

CLOSINGSLIVE	
A New Form Has Been Submitted to Closir	ngsLIVE Order SEE2023050025
Custom From Email Name <fromemail@fnf. To O notifyemail@fnf.com</fromemail@fnf. 	com>
	CLOSINGSLIVE
	The following Task has been completed on the web for order #SEE2023050025:
	Task Name: Complete Buyer Information Sheet Submitted By: <u>agencyuser@fnf.com</u> Form Name: Buyer Information Sheet
	The task can be retrieved via the SoftPro 360 Queue and linked to the above referenced order.
	Click <u>here</u> to unsubscribe from these emails.

In SoftPro, open the corresponding order. The **360 Queue** shows the message with a **Status** of **Ready**. Click the **Next Step** button to proceed to the Review window to review and accept the data (if a completed online form) or the submitted message (if an uploaded form) to accept the message and document.

acue		-				L. Davis				
Next 9	tep	Views:	Active Order			Filter: All Provi	ders			
	Provider	Service	Status	Linked Order	Linked Profile	Created By	Created On	Completed On	Description	Transaction Number
	SoftPro	Live	Ready	SEE 2023050025	Default		5/25/2023 6:53 PM		4600 Falls Ne	111103-30-230525-342527
	SoftPro	Live	Completed	SEE2023050025	Default		5/25/2023 6:47 PM	5/25/2023 6:49 PM		111103-30-230525-342519
4	SoftPro	Live	Completed	SEE2023050025	Default	AgencyUser	5/25/2023 6:45 PM	5/25/2023 6:45 PM		111103-30-230525-342518

### **Receiving/Accepting an Uploaded Document**

If an uploaded document has been received, the **ClosingsLIVE Message** window opens, displaying the message and the uploaded document in the **Attachments** section.



Click **Accept** to import the document to the **Attachments** screen and the message to the **Order Notes** screen within the SoftPro order.

	7 🖷 33 🗗 🛃 🔜					Search		2
Attachments	Name SSA Mar	iage Certificate	$\square$	Description SSA Marriage C	Type Adobe Acrob	Source Attached	Size 161 KB	Last Moc
	Type 🗞 Linked Fro	ies m Created	Last Modified	Note			Cat	tegory
				Received: 5/25/202 From: agencyuser@ Subject: Marriage C	23 3:32:05 PM ⊉fnf.com Certificate age Certificate for	reference.		



### **Receiving/Accepting a Completed Online Form**

The **Review** screen opens showing the information entered in the online form for each mapped field (not all form fields are mapped to the SoftPro order). From here the data entered can be reviewed before importing, select what data is imported, view the form in PDF format or the submission can be rejected completely.

					41			
Property			Name		New	ew Value		
Buyer 1			Property Address	4600 Falls Neuse Rd	4600 F	4600 Falls Neuse Rd		
Lender		$\checkmark$	Property Address		Doddakananelli			2
Note		$\checkmark$	Property Address	Raleigh	Raleigh	gh		
		$\checkmark$	State	NC	North (	Carolina		
		$\checkmark$	Property Address	27609	27609			
		$\checkmark$	IndOrOrg	Individual	Individual			
Documen	nts							
View	Copy D	y Document Name		File Name File S		File Size (KB)	Transf	erred
	Bu	yer Inf	formation Sheet	Buyer Information Sheet.pdf		42	100%	

### **Groups Section**

In the **Groups** section, the data from the online form is grouped by category for easier navigation to a desired field or group of fields. Selecting a group displays only that group's data in the adjacent **Data** section. Selecting **All** in the **Groups** tree displays all data submitted from the online form.

Z Select All	elect None	Field Codes	Vew Order 🥔 Order Search	Linked To:	SEE2023050025	+
Groups		ata				_
All		Name	Current Value	New	Value	^
Buver 1		Property Address	4600 Falls Neuse Rd	4600 F	alls Neuse Rd	1
Lender		Property Address		Dodda	kananelli	
Note		Property Address	Raleigh	Raleig	h	
		State	NC	North (	Carolina	
		Property Address	27609	27609	L.	
		IndOrOrg	Individual	Individ	ual	



The **Note** entry shows data for those field that are not mapped to a SoftPro order field. This information is written to the **Order Notes** screen within the SoftPro order.

🚭 夏 Select All	📑 Select None 📗	📕 Field Codes   🍏 N	ew Order 🖉 Order Search 🛛 Lin	nked To: SEE2023050025 -
Groups	📀 Data	3		
All Property Buyer 1 Lender Note		Name CompletedBy DateofBirth24 USCitizen27 Lietthesemonstehenamed	Current Value	New Value agencyuser@fnf.com 05 07 2199 Yes Secreman C
All (2) Integration (1)	Created La	ast Modified Note		Category
	09/15/2023 02:4 De	Provider: 9 Your Role: Created By Transaction office: Tes Submitter I Submitter I Submitter C	00002customer Lender : mappinguser0901@fnf.com I Type: Refinance n Number: 23003600 t Agency - California irst Name: California irst Name: Mark ast Name: Smith company Name: Lending Company	Integration

The **Note** entry also records data for the Submitter First Name, Submitter Last Name and Submitter Company name when the online fields are completed.

### **Data Section**

The **Data** section displays the data entered in the online form in the **New Value** column. This data has been mapped to the fields listed in the **Name** column. Any data that already exists in the SoftPro order displays in the **Current Value** column. By default, all data is selected for importing into the linked order.

- Using the scroll bar on the right side of the **Data** section allows you to review the data for the group(s) selected in the **Groups** section.
- The **Name** field check box can be unchecked to exclude the **New Value** from being imported into the linked order. All data can be included or excluded by selecting the check box in the **Data** Section header.
- Click the **Edit** icon to open the **Edit New Value** window. Here you can change the **New Value** to be imported for that field. Hovering your curser over the options at the top of the window opens a description of each editing feature in this window.

Select All 🖹 Se	elect None	Field Codes   🍏 🕅	New Order 🧖 Order Search	Linked To:	SEE2023050025	
Groups	( D	ata				
···· All		Name	Current Value	New \	/alue	
- Property - Buyer 1		Property Address	4600 Falls Neuse Rd	4600 F	alls Neuse Rd	
Lender		Property Address		Dodda	kananelli	
Note		Property Address	Raleigh	Raleigh	ı	
		State	NC	North C	Carolina	
		Property Address	27609	27609		
		IndOrOrg	Individual	Individu	ual	

#### **Documents Section**

CLOSINGS

The customer completed online form submitted is listed in the **Documents** section of the **Review** screen. Click the **View** icon to open the document for viewing. Click the **Copy** icon to copy the image of the document to the clipboard from there it can be pasted into an external application. By default, all documents are selected for importing into the linked order.

Do	ocuments	$\mathbf{)}$				
	View	Сору	Document Name	File Name	File Size (KB)	Transferred
$\checkmark$			Buyer Information Sheet	Buyer Information Sheet.pdf	42	100%
				S Act	cept 🥥 Reject	Close

#### **Accepting the Data**

Click the **Accept** button in the lower right corner of the **Review** screen to import the selected values into the corresponding fields in the linked order. Unmapped fields are written to the **Notes** section of the order, and documents are attached to the order and displayed in the **Attachments** screen. The **Review** screen closes when importing is complete, and the transaction status in the **Queue** changes to **Completed**.

### **Rejecting the Data**

To reject form data, click the **Reject** button in the lower right corner of the **Review** screen. No data, notes or documents are imported into the linked order and the **Review** screen closes. The transaction status in the **Queue** changes to **Rejected**.



When logging into ClosingsLIVE after migration, you are prompted to setup your Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA) verification options. Once configured, you are prompted to step through one of the three options available each time you log into ClosingsLIVE.

Г

The three verification options available are:

CLOSINGSL

- > Okta Verify automatically push a security code via the Okta Verify mobile application.
- SMS Authentication receive a security code via text message on your mobile device.
- > Voice Call Authentication receive a security code via automated phone call.

<b>BEST PRACTICE:</b> It is recommended all three options are set up to avoid not having access if one option is not accessible. Once the verification options are created, you select which option is the default verification method when you sign into ClosingsLIVE.	SOFTPRO
	Set up multifactor authentication Your company requires multifactor authentication to add an additional layer of security when signing in to your Okta account Okta Verify Use a push notification sent to the mobile app. Setup
	SMS Authentication Enter a single-use code sent to your mobile phone. Setup
	Voice Call Authentication Use a phone to authenticate by following voice instructions. Setup



1. Log into ClosingsLIVE



You are immediately prompted to setup your Multi-Factor Authentication.

**REMINDER:** Set up all three options to avoid not having access if one option is not accessible.

# Setting Up the Okta Verify Option

2. Click the Okta Verify Setup button





3. From the **Setup Okta Verify** window, check the applicable mobile device



- Once selected, you are prompted to download the Okta Verify app
- 5. Download and install the Okta Verify app on your phone
- 6. Click the **Next** button




- 7. Open the camera app on your phone
- 8. From the **Setup Okta Verify** window, scan the barcode with your camera to send the app to your phone

To scan the barcode, hold your phone up to the monitor so the camera can read the barcode; you should see a box around the barcode.

You should be prompted to open in Okta Verify.



9. Click the Open in the Okta Verify message

Once the app launches on your phone,

- 10. Click the Get Started button
- 11. Click **Next** to continue through the introduction messages





- 12. From the Ways to verify message, click the Add an account button
- 13. From the Allow Push Notifications message, click the Allow button

**NOTE:** Allowing push notifications avoids you having to open the app to obtain the code and re-enter when logging into ClosingsLIVE. The code is automatically sent to MFA and proceeds through the verification process.

14. When you see the Account Added message, click the Done button



The program name and your login are shown in the app. You can now close the app.





On your computer, you are returned to the **Set up multifactor authentication** window.

The **Enrolled factors** section displays a checkmark  $\checkmark$  next to the **Okta Verify** option to indicate setup is complete for that option and an email is sent to confirming your enrollment.

Click the **Finish** button if you wish to exit or continue to setup the additional verification options.

**REMINDER:** Set up all three options to avoid not having access if one option is not accessible.

SOFTPRO			
Set up multifactor authentication			
You can configure any additional optional factor or click finish			
Enrolled factors			
Okta Verify			
Additional optional factors			
SMS Authentication Enter a single-use code sent to your mobile phone. Setup			
Voice Call Authentication Use a phone to authenticate by following voice instructions.			
Finish			

## **Setting Up the SMS Authentication Option**

1. Click the SMS Authentication > Setup button

Additional optional factors		
<b>(</b>	SMS Authentication Enter a single-use code sent to your mobile phone. Setup	



- 2. When prompted, enter your mobile number
- 3. Click Send a code
- 4. Enter the code sent to your phone, click Verify

SOFTPRO	SOFTPRO
Receive a code via SMS to authenticate United States Phone number +1 7172091320 Send code	Receive a code via SMS to authenticate         United States         Phone number         +1       7172091320         Sent
Back to factor list	Enter Code 956063 Verify Back to factor list

On your computer, you are returned to the **Set up multifactor authentication** window.

The **Enrolled factors** section displays a checkmark <a></a> next to the **SMS Authentication** option to indicate setup is complete for that option and an email is sent confirming your enrollment.

Click the **Finish** button if you wish to exit or continue to setup the additional verification options.



## Setting Up the Voice Call Authentication Option

1. Click the Voice Call Authentication > Setup button

Set	t up multifactor authentication
You c	an configure any additional optional factor or click finish
Enrolled	factors
0	Okta Verify 🥥
500	SMS Authentication
Additio	nal optional factors
٩	Voice Call Authentication Use a phone to authenticate by following voice instructions. Setup

SOFTPRO				
Follow phone call instructions to authenticate				
United States				
Phone number	Extension			
+1 8008480143	2288			
Call				
Back to factor list				

When you receive the automated call,

- 2. Enter the code provided
- 3. Click Verify

An email is sent confirming your enrollment.

	Calling	
Enter Code		
54440		
	Verify	

Setup is complete and the ClosingsLIVE program opens.



The next time you log into ClosingsLIVE you are required to step through the MFA. The method of verification shown is based on the last verification method used.

CLOSINGSLIVE	SOFTPRO
Welcome to ClosingsLIVE! ClosingsLIVE is a web based tool that streamlines communications with your closing and title professionals, making the closing process faster, easier, and more cost effective.	
Email sysadmin@softpro360.com Password	Voice Call Authentication (+1 XXX-XXX-1320) Enter Code
Remember me Sign In Forgot password?	Verify

## **Changing Verification Options**

You can change your verification method from the log in window (if two or more are setup) or from the Account Settings within ClosingsLIVE.



Multiple options setup

From the Login window,

- 1. Click the down-arrow
- 2. Select the method you wish to use

This option remains the default method going forward.



- > One option setup
  - 1. Log into ClosingsLIVE using the current MFA method

Once logged in,

- 2. Click your email address on the toolbar
- 3. Select Account Settings

(	CLOSINGSLI	Æ)		Orders Susan rive	ra-stoll@softprocorp.com -
					Account Settings
	My Orders	Requests	Place Order		Log Out



- From the My Account screen, click the Password & Security tab
- Click the Okta Account Settings at the bottom of the screen

My Account			
	My Information Ema	il Preferences Passv	vord & Security
	Change Password		
Manage My Photo	Password Requirements	<ul> <li>At least 8 characte</li> <li>A lowercase and at number and a sym</li> <li>No parts of your us</li> <li>Does not include y name.</li> <li>Cannot be any of y</li> </ul>	rs. n uppercase letter, a bol. sernarie. our first name or your last rourrast 10 passwords.
	Current Password	Password	*
	New Password	New Password	*
	Confirm Password	Confirm Password	*
	Change Login Pre To chang including A new bro you	ferences ge your user login pr multi-factor authenti on the link below. owser window will op in to your profile in Okta Account Settin	Update Password references, cation, click pen and log Okta.

From the Account screen, Edit Verification section,



6. Click the **Setup** button for the method you wish to setup; options already setup show the **Remove** button.

